
1 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

October 8, 2020 
5:00 P.M. 

Meeting Will Be Conducted Via Zoom Conference 

AGENDA 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
The public may observe and/or participate in this meeting many ways. 

OBSERVE: 
• To observe, the public may view the televised video conference by viewing KTOP
channel 10 on Xfinity (Comcast) or ATT Channel 99 and locating City of Oakland
KTOP – Channel 10

• To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on this link: You are
invited to a Zoom webinar.
When: September 24, 2020 5:00PM Pacific Time (US and Canada)

You are invited to a Zoom webinar. 
Topic: HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION FULL BOARD SPECIAL 
MEETING October 08, 2020 5:00 PM 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://zoom.us/j/93435891175 
Or iPhone one-tap :  
    US: +16699006833,,93435891175#  or +13462487799,,93435891175# 
Or Telephone: 

 Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 
        US: +1 669 900 6833  or +1 346 248 7799  or +1 253 215 8782  or +1 929 205 
6099  or +1 301 715 8592  or +1 312 626 6799  
Webinar ID: 934 3589 1175 

 International numbers available: https://zoom.us/u/aeiGFcbhJ6 

COMMENT: 

There are two ways to submit public comments. 

• To comment by Zoom video conference, click the “Raise Your Hand” button to
request to speak when Public Comment is being taken on an eligible agenda item
at the beginning of the meeting. You will be permitted to speak during your turn,
allowed to comment, and after the allotted time, re-muted. Instructions on how to
“Raise Your Hand” is available at:
https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/205566129 - Raise-Hand-In-Webinar.

000001



2 

• To comment by phone, please call on one of the above listed phone numbers.
You will be prompted to “Raise Your Hand” by pressing “*9” to speak when Public
Comment is taken. You will be permitted to speak during your turn, allowed to
comment, and after the allotted time, re-muted.
Please unmute yourself by pressing *6.

If you have any questions, please email Bkong-brown@oaklandca.gov. 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
1. CALL TO ORDER
2. ROLL CALL
3. CONSENT ITEMS

a) Approval of Board minutes from September 24, 2020
4. OPEN FORUM
5. APPEALS*

a) T18-0018, Sund v. Vernon St. Apartment LP aka Flynn
Family Holdings LLC

` b) T17-0221, Kaufman v. Nguyen
b) T19-0196, Yoquelet v. Tenants

6. ACTION ITEMS
a) Board Member R. Auguste’s proposal re nomenclature

7. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS
a. Legislative Updates (Office of the City Attorney)

8. COMMITTEE REPORTS AND SCHEDULING

9. ADJOURNMENT

As a reminder, alternates in attendance (other than those replacing an absent 
board member) will not be able to take any action, such as with regard to the 
consent calendar. 

Accessibility.  To request disability-related accommodations or to request an 
ASL, Cantonese, Mandarin or Spanish interpreter, please email 
sshannon@oaklandca.gov or call (510) 238- 3715 or California relay service at 
711 by 5:00 P.M. one day before the meeting.  
*Staff appeal summaries will be available at the Rent Program website and the Clerk’s  office at least 72
hours prior to the meeting pursuant to O.M.C. 2.20.080.C and 2.20.090

000002



3 

 Si desea solicitar adaptaciones relacionadas con discapacidades, o para pedir 
un intérprete de en español, Cantones, Mandarín o de lenguaje de señas (ASL) 
por favor envié un correo electrónico a sshannon@oaklandca.gov o llame al 
(510) 238-3715 o 711 por lo menos cinco días hábiles antes de la reunión.

需要殘障輔助設施, 手語, 西班牙語, 
粵語或國語翻譯服務, 請在會議前五個工作天電郵 sshannon@oaklandca.gov 
或致電 (510) 238-3715 或 711 California relay service. 

000003



 

1  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

September 24, 2020 
5:00 P.M. 

VIA ZOOM CONFERENCE 
OAKLAND, CA 

MINUTES  
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
The Board meeting was administered via Zoom by H. Grewal, Housing and 
Community Development Department. He explained the procedure for 
conducting the meeting. The HRRRB meeting was called to order at 5:00 
p.m. by Chair, R. Stone. 

2. ROLL CALL 
 

MEMBER STATUS PRESENT ABSENT EXCUSED 
T. HALL Tenant X   
R. AUGUSTE Tenant X   
H. FLANERY Tenant Alt.   X 
Vacant Tenant Alt.    

     
R. STONE Homeowner X            
A. GRAHAM Homeowner X   
S. DEVUONO-
POWELL 

Homeowner X   

E. LAI Homeowner Alt.   X 
J. MA POWERS Homeowner Alt.   X 

     
K. FRIEDMAN Landlord X   
T. WILLIAMS Landlord            X 
B. SCOTT Landlord Alt.            X 
K. SIMS Landlord Alt.          X   

 
Staff Present 
 

Oliver Luby   Deputy City Attorney 
Barbara Cohen Acting Program Manager, Rent Adjustment 

Program 
Barbara Kong-Brown  Senior Hearing Officer, Rent Adjustment  

     Program 
 
 
 

000004



 

2  

3. CONSENT ITEMS 
 

a) Approval of Board Minutes from September 10, 
2020, Full Board Special Meeting 
 
 K. Friedman moved to approve the Rent Board 
minutes from September 10, 2020. A. Graham 
seconded. 
 

The Board voted as follows:  
   

Aye:  T. Hall, R. Auguste, R. Stone, A. Graham, S. Devuono-
Powell, K. Friedman, K. Sims 
Nay: None 
Abstain: None 

    
The motion was approved by consensus. 
 

4. OPEN FORUM 

Sherri Pacheco 
• Asked when her case would be re-scheduled. It was 

postponed for tonight’s hearing due to a last-minute request 
from the owner’s representative. 

Cynthia Hollins 
• Wanted to make sure that her appeal case, scheduled for 

tonight, was going forward. 
  

5. APPEALS 

a) T19-0359, Pariss Kelly v. Claridge Hotel, LLC 
  Appearances: Pariss Kelly Tenant  
     No Appearance by Owner 

 
  The tenant appellant began to present his arguments, but his 
remarks were garbled. Board Chair R. Stone passed his case and returned 
to Mr. Kelly’s case after hearing the appeal in L19-0037, Pan Pacific Corp, 
LLC v. Tenants.  
 
  The tenant contended that the owner did not file a response and did 
not appear at the hearing. He did not consent to the participation of the 

000005



 

3  

owner’s agent because he is a third party, and the owner is a judgment 
debtor because he failed to respond. The tenant requested a dismissal of 
his petition. 
  
  The hearing officer dismissed the tenant’s petition at his request. The 
tenant stated that he requested a continuance, not a dismissal.  
   
  After arguments made by the tenant, the Board requested to hear the 
tape of the underlying hearing. After hearing the tape of the hearing, Board 
questions to the tenant and Board discussion, K. Sims moved to affirm the 
hearing decision. A Graham seconded. 

 
The Board voted as follows:  

 
 
Aye:  T. Hall, R. Auguste, A. Graham, R. Stone, S. Devuono-Powell, 
T. Williams, K. Friedman 
Nay:  None 
Abstain: None 
 

The motion was approved by consensus. 
 

b) T19-0202, Pacheco v. Newsome 
 This case has been postponed at the request of the owner’s 
representative. 

 
c) L19-0037, Pan Pacific Corp. LLC v. Tenants 

Appearances: Nicholas Morgan Owner 
    Jeff Rosenblum Owner 
    Cynthia Hollins Tenant  
    Tim Bussemer Tenant 
  The owner appellant representative argued that they requested 
approval for seismic retrofit totaling $110,000. They had a hearing for the 
capital improvements in a prior case in December 2018 and submitted all 
the records, including cancelled checks, completed inspections, and 
permits, but the hearing officer denied the request because the owners did 
not request pre-approval for the rent increase. 
  In the current case, the owners did not re-submit the prior records 
because they assumed that the hearing officer had access to these 
documents. They received a deficiency letter about certain payments which 

000006



 

4  

they corrected, but they were not notified that they were missing any 
documents and contend that this is unjust and unfair as the records were 
readily available to the hearing officer. 
 
  Tenant Hollins argued that the owners did earthquake work in 1998, 
converted certain units, removed the laundry room, and renovated 3 of 5 
the units except her unit and Mr. Bussemer’s unit. 
 
  Tenant Bussemer argued that certain of the expenses are not for 
seismic retrofit, that roofing, drywall, stucco, exterior sheetrock, framework, 
beams, and trusses need to be subtracted from the cost. 
 
  On rebuttal, the owners stated that they did some seismic work in 
1998, including removing the lower baseboard and changing the bolts to 
the existing foundation. In the current case they drilled out the old 
foundation, poured a new slab and installed seismic shear to adjust to 
current code requirements. 
 
  On rebuttal the tenants stated that no new evidence is permitted in 
an appeal hearing and it is unfair for the owner to raise rents on the two 
long term tenants with no renovation to their units. 
 

  After arguments and rebuttal made by both parties, Board questions 
to the parties and Board discussion S. Devuono-Powell moved to affirm the 
hearing decision. R. Auguste seconded the motion. 

 
The Board voted as follows:  

 
 
Aye: T. Hall, R. Auguste, A. Graham, R. Stone 
Nay: K. Friedman, K. Sims, S. Devuono-Powell 
Abstain: None 
 

The motion carried. 
 

6. ACTION ITEMS 
   None 
  

7. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENT 
 

000007



 

5  

a) Legislative Updates 

Deputy City Attorney Luby reported that the Efficiency 
Ordinance went to City Council on September 15, 2020. 
There were some changes on the floor and the first reading 
was continued to October 6, 2020. The purpose of the 
Ordinance is to change the terms for appeals, the time frame 
for arguments, and appointment of an appeal officer. 

 

b) Designation/Nomenclature 

Board member R. Auguste stated that no member of the Rent 
Board should be identified as a neutral, that all the Board 
members are neutral, and referring to someone as neutral 
means some members are neutrals and others are not. 
Calling any one board member as neutral and others as 
tenant or owner representatives is problematic and sets a 
tone.  

8. COMMITTEE REPORTS AND SCHEDULING 

a)  Board Chair R. Stone requested that Board member R.   
Auguste’s proposal be added to the Agenda as an action item 
for the next Board meeting 

b. Ad hoc committee 

Board Chair R. Stone asked if the ad hoc committee had 
received copies of the proposed changes to the regulations. 
Mr. Luby replied that the ad hoc committee has not met and 
is not sure when the draft will be ready. Board Chair R. Stone 
asked that staff communicate his concern to C. Franklin 
Minor regarding the deadline for the regulations. 

Board member A. Graham stated he will email the other 
committee members and C. Franklin Minor and they can 
meet next Thursday. 

Mr. Luby stated the schedule depends on completion of the 
draft. 

 
9. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The HRRRB meeting was adjourned at 7:17 p.m. by Board Chair R. Stone. 

 

000008



000009



000010



000011



000012



000013



000014



000015



000016



000017



000018



000019



000020



000021



000022



000023



000024



000025



000026



000027



000028



000029



000030



000031



000032



000033



000034



000035



000036



000037



000038



000039



000040



000041



000042



000043



000044



000045



000046



000047



000048



000049



000050



000051



000052



000053



000054



000055



000056



000057



000058



000059



000060



000061



000062



000063



000064



000065



000066



000067



000068



000069



000070



000071



000072



000073



000074



000075



000076



000077



000078



000079



000080



000081



000082



000083



000084



000085



000086



000087



000088



000089



000090



000091



000092



000093



000094



000095



000096



000097



000098



000099



000100



000101



000102



000103



000104



000105



000106



000107



000108



000109



000110



000111



000112



000113



000114



000115



000116



000117



000118



000119



000120



000121



000122



000123



000124



000125



000126



000127



000128



000129



000130



000131



000132



000133



000134



000135



000136



000137



000138



000139



000140



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

Case No.: T19-0196 

Case Name: 

Property Address: 

Parties: 

Yoquelet v. Oaktown Properties 

216 Makin Road, Oakland, CA 94603 

Corey Yoquelet (Tenant) 

Dima Tsenter (Owner) 

OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity Date 

Tenant Petition filed February 20, 2019 

Owner Response filed August 2, 2019 

Hearing Decision mailed January 6, 2020 

Tenant Appeal filed January 27, 2020 

000141



000142



000143



000144



000145



000146



000147



000148



000149



000150



000151



000152



000153



000154



000155



000156



000157



000158



000159



000160



000161



000162



000163



1 
 

                                               CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                        Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 
Date:              October 1, 2020 

To:              Members of the Housing, Residential & Relocation Board    
                                          (HRRRB)     
From:              Staff 

Re:                                     Appeal Summary in T18-0018 
             Sund v. Vernon Street Apartment LP aka Flynn Family                                   
                                          Holdings LLC 
 
Appeal Hearing Date:      October 8, 2020 
 

Property Address:   633 Alma Avenue, No. 5, Oakland, CA 

Appellant/Tenant:   Jessica Sund   

Respondent/Owner: Vernon Street Apartments LP aka Flynn Family Holdings 
LLC           

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 On November 29, 2017, the tenant filed a petition, contesting a proposed 
monthly rent increase from $908.67 to $2,095.00, effective December 1, 2017, on the 
following grounds: 

• The increase exceeds the CPI Adjustment and is unjustified or greater than 10%. 
• The proposed rent increase would exceed an overall increase of 30% in 5 years. 
• She wishes to contest an exemption from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance 

because the exemption was based on fraud or mistake. 

    The owner filed a timely response on April 2, 2018, stating that the rent increase 
is based on the Costa-Hawkins Act and that the original tenant no longer maintains this 
unit as her primary place of residence. 

 
RULING ON THE CASE 

 
On December 20, 2018, the Hearing Officer issued a decision denying the 

petition on the grounds that (1) the tenant no longer permanently resides at 633 Alma 
Street, Unit 5, in Oakland, California, at least since July 1, 2017; (2) that she 
permanently resides at 3024 California Street, in Oakland, California, and therefore 
lacks standing to file this petition.  She found that (1) the owner’s agent testified credibly 



2 
 

that he had received multiple complaints about strangers going in and out of the 
petitioner’s unit with keys to the unit while the petitioner was nowhere to be seen; (2) an 
internet search by the owner’s agent showed listings by the petitioner’s boyfriend, 
purporting to rent out an unspecified unit on couch surfing sites as well as a baby 
registry for the petitioner and her boyfriend, and (3) the investigator’s records indicated 
that the petitioner was no longer permanently residing at the Alma Street address since  
July 1, 2017. 

 
GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 
The tenant appealed the hearing decision on the following grounds: 

• The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board 
Regulations or prior decisions of the Board. 
 

• The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing 
Officers. 

• The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the 
Board. 
 

• The decision violates federal, state or local law. 

• The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. 
 

• The tenant was denied a sufficient opportunity to present her claim or 
respond to the petitioner’s claim. 

Specifically, the petitioner contends that the hearing decision constitutes an 
abuse of discretion, that the selective use of evidence, the mischaracterization and 
misstatements of other evidence, and lack of plain objectivity, as evidenced by the 
decision, demonstrates a judgment inconsistent with logic and the facts. The decision 
consistently relied on evidence that was inadmissible, while ignoring other material. The 
decision demonstrates a lack of objectivity and a prejudice toward the tenant petitioner. 

 
The petitioner further contends that the Hearing Officer arrived at the 

unwarranted conclusion that the petitioner’s testimony that she temporarily moved from 
the Alma Street address to the California Street address in October 2017 after her 
request to have her boyfriend move into her unit was denied, is simply “Not credible.” 
The petitioner contends that this constitutes a constructive eviction because the rent 
increase sought means she would no longer be able to reside in her unit, and that she 
had a right to have the father of her expected child move in with her. 
 

The petitioner also contends that the evidence submitted by the Respondent is to 
be viewed with distrust and rejected because it failed to produce employee witnesses 
claimed to have relevant information, video footage, etc. The Respondent’s three 
witnesses each offered contradicting or inconsistent evidence regarding its claims. 

 



3 
 

Finally, the petitioner contends that the owner failed to produce sufficient 
evidence that she was renting out her unit for short term rentals. The rent increase 
constitutes constructive eviction because she would no longer be able to reside in her 
unit, and discrimination because it is illegal to discriminate in housing based on 
pregnancy or family status, under both state and federal law and agency regulation.   
The notice of rent increase is retaliation because the owner served the rent increase 
within days after the tenant sought to exercise certain rights provided to her by law. 

 
The owner did not file a response to the petitioner’s appeal. 

 
ISSUES 

 

1. Is there substantial evidence to support the Hearing Officer’s finding that the 
petitioner, Jessica Sund, lacks standing to file the petition because she no 
longer permanently resides in the subject unit? 
 

2. Did the Hearing Officer apply the correct legal standard to find that the 
petitioner no longer permanently resided in the subject unit? 

APPLICABLE LAW AND BOARD DECISIONS 

1. Applicable Law 

a. Standing to File Petition Under the Rent Adjustment Ordinance 

To have standing to file a petition, the petitioner must be a Tenant in a covered 
unit when the petition is filed. O.M.C. 8.22.090. A.1. The Ordinance defines “Tenant” as 
“a person entitled, by written or oral agreement to the use or occupancy of any covered 
unit.” O.M.C.  8.22.020 

b. Costa-Hawkins Rent Increase: Permanent Residence of Original Occupant 

California Civil Code section 1954.53 (d)(2) of the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing 
act provides in relevant part: 

“If the original occupant or occupants who took possession of the dwelling 
or unit pursuant to the rental agreement with the owner no longer 
permanently reside there, an owner may increase the rent by any amount 
allowed by this section to a lawful sub lessee or assignee who did not 
reside at the dwelling or unit prior to January 1, 1996.” 

For the rent increase to be valid, the original occupant must no longer 
permanently reside in the unit on the date of the rent increase was served on 
September 6, 2017.  

 
 



4 
 

2. Board Decisions 
 
 a. Standing to File Petition Under Rent Adjustment Ordinance 
 
T06-0284, O’Hara v. Sansui 
Board affirmed dismissal of petition where tenancy was terminated by a Superior Court 
judgment prior to filing of the petition. To have standing to file a petition, a tenant must 
be a tenant in a covered unit at the time the petition is filed. OMC, §8.22.090. A.1, 
8.22.020. 
 
T03-0306, Raymond v. Horizon Mgt. Group 
Board affirmed decision ruling that the tenant who moved from the property has no 
standing to challenge a rent increase. 
 
T07-0021, Goldfarb v. Small 
Tenant moved to San Diego and his brother moved into the unit. The tenant continued 
to pay the rent and the owner asked the brother to move out several times. The Board 
affirmed the hearing decision ruling that the brother lacked standing due to lack of 
owner consent to the tenancy. 
 
 b.  Costa-Hawkins Rent Increase: Permanent Residence of Original Occupant 
 
The Board has never determined whether a tenant may be temporarily absent from a 
unit while still permanently residing in the unit or whether “permanently reside” has the 
same meaning as maintaining the unit as a principal place of residence. 
 
3. Other Issues on Appeal 

The tenant’s contentions regarding constructive eviction, discrimination in 
housing based on pregnancy or family status, and retaliation are beyond the jurisdiction 
of the Rent Adjustment Program. 

 



1 
 

                                                   CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                    Rent Adjustment Program 

                                       

                                            MEMORANDUM 

Date:                    October 1, 2020 
 
To:                                 Members of the Housing, Residential Rent & Relocation Board 
                                      (HRRRB)     

From:                            Staff 

Re:                                 Appeal Summary in T17-0221 
                            Kaufman v. Nguyen 

 
Appeal Hearing Date:  October 8, 2020 
 

Property Address:       4016 Kansas Street, Oakland, CA 

Appellant/Tenant:       Michael Kaufman                  

Respondent/Owner:       Jennifer Nguyen 

BACKGROUND 

 Tenant Michael Kaufman filed a petition on March 20, 2017, contesting the 
following rent increases:  

• From $1,250 to $1,275, effective April 1, 2017. 
• From $1,273.75 to $1,295, effective April 1, 2017 
• From $1,273.75 to $1,295, effective April 1, 2017. 

The tenant alleged the following grounds: 

• The CPI and/or banked increase notice was calculated incorrectly. 
• The increase exceeds the CPI Adjustment and is unjustified or greater 

than 10%. 
• He received a rent increase notice before the property owner received 

approval from the RAP for such an increase and the rent increase 
exceeds the CPI Adjustment and available banked increase. 

The owner, Jennifer Nguyen, filed a timely response, stating that the increase 
based on Banking, was from $1,250.00 to $1,320.82.    

 

 



2 
 

RULING ON THE CASE 

The hearing officer found that the banked rent was 6% of $1,250.00, in the sum 
of $71.31, which increased the monthly rent to $1,321.31. However, the rent increase 
may not exceed the amount stated in the rent increase notice, and a banked amount of 
$70.00 was granted, increasing the tenant’s monthly rent to $1,320.00, effective April 1, 
2017. 

The tenant filed an appeal, because (1) the decision is inconsistent with O.M.C. 
Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations or prior Board decisions; (2) the decision is 
inconsistent with decisions issued by other hearing officers; and (3) the decision is not 
supported by substantial evidence. 

This appeal was heard by a Board Panel on June 21, 2018.The Board panel 
remanded the hearing decision to the hearing officer to determine the issue of law as to 
whether a properly served RAP Notice cures a defect or a prior improperly served 
notice or failure to serve RAP Notice so that the owner may then claim Banking of rent 
increases that were not taken in the past. 

 The Hearing Decision on Remand stated that there is no mention of any 
limitation on Banking in the Ordinance based on a failure to provide a RAP Notice in the 
past, and found that an owner’s failure to have given a RAP Notice in past years does 
not affect the owner’s right to a full Banking increase. 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 The tenant filed an appeal on February 5, 2019, on the following grounds: 

• The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board 
Regulations or prior decisions of the Board. 

• The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing 
Officers. 

• The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the 
Board. 

Specifically, the tenant contends that in Case No. T16-0482, Kaufman v. 
Nguyen, the hearing officer ignored the hearing decision which involved the same exact 
issues and was decided in her favor. The tenant signed a lease in 2014 and did not 
receive the RAP notice until July 2016.  Rent increases based on Banking prior to 
receipt of the RAP notice is not consistent with RAP law and should be reversed.  
 

ISSUE 

1. Is an owner entitled to a full Banking increase if a tenant was not served with a 
RAP notice in prior years? 

 



3 
 

 

 APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

Banking 

Banking is defined in O.M.C. §8.22.020 as any CPI Rent Adjustment (or any rent 
adjustment formerly known as the Annual Permissible Rent Increase) the owner 
chooses to delay imposing in part or in full, and which may be imposed at a later date, 
subject to the restrictions in the regulations 

. 
If the landlord chooses to increase rents less than the annual CPI Adjustment 

(formerly Annual Permissible Increase) permitted by the Ordinance, any remaining CPI 
Rent adjustment may be carried over to succeeding twelve (12) month periods 
(“Banked”).  However, the total of CPI Adjustments imposed in any one Rent Increase, 
including the current CPI Rent Adjustment, may not exceed three times the allowable 
CPI Rent adjustment on the effective date of the Rent Increase notice.1  

In no event, may any banked CPI Rent Adjustment be implemented more than 
ten years after it accrues.2  There is no language contained in the Rent Adjustment 
Ordinance and Regulations stating that Banking for a year is discounted if the tenant did 
not receive a RAP notice.  

The only penalty for failure to provide a 6-month RAP notice is a six-month 
forfeiture in imposing a rent increase.3 The failure to provide the notice at the beginning 
of the tenancy may be cured if the owner provides a notice at least six months prior to 
serving the rent increase notice on the tenant.4 

Board Decisions 

 None. 

 

Prepared by Barbara Kong-Brown, Esq. 
    Senior Hearing Officer                       

                                                           
1 Rent Adjustment Board Regulations, Appendix a, §10.5.1 
2 Rent Adjustment Board Regulations, Appendix a, §10.5.3 
3 O.M.C §8.22.060 (C) 
4 O.M.C.§8.22.060(C) 



1 
 

 
                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program   

 

MEMORANDUM 
Date:     October 1, 2020 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Staff 

Re:     Appeal Summary in T19-0196 
    Yoquelet v. Oaktown Properties 
                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       October 8,  2020 
 

Property Address:   216 Makin Road Oakland, CA 

Appellant/Tenant:  Corey Yoquelet 
 
Respondent/Owner:            Dima  Tsenter 
    Oaktown Properties 
                             

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 On February 20, 2019, tenant Corey Youquelet filed a petition contesting a rent 
increase from $2,305.00 to $2,502.75. The owner filed a timely response to the petition, 
claiming that the subject unit was exempt from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance because 
it is a single-family residence. 

                                        RULING ON THE CASE 

The Hearing Officer issued a Hearing Decision on January 6, 2020, finding that  
the subject unit is exempt from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance as a single-family 
residence. 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 The tenant appealed the Hearing Decision on the following grounds: 

• The Decision is inconsistent with the Oakland Municipal Code, RAP Regulations 
or prior decisions of the RAP Board; 

• The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other hearing officers; 
• The decision violates federal, state or local law; 
• The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. 



2 
 

Specifically, the tenant contends that (1) he was denied the opportunity to  
introduce written documentary exhibits and testimony regarding the termination of prior 
tenancies and prior and current code violations; (2) the owner was allowed to introduce 
exhibits which were not submitted with his response or prior to the hearing; (3) the 
tenant was denied the opportunity to exercise discovery rights and to anticipate what 
evidence would be required for rebuttal and in what form; (4) it is the owner’s burden of 
proof regarding an exemption claim and the tenant arrived at the hearing with the 
understanding that the owner did not and would not produce supporting documentation 
or exhibits; (5) the tenant’s right to impeach witnesses, introduce evidence, and rebut 
evidence was violated; (6) the tenant was denied the right to call witnesses and to 
examine the alleged refund check produced by the owner. 
 
 Additionally, the tenant contends that he introduced hearsay testimony which the 
Hearing Officer ignored. The Hearing Officer also refused to admit written evidence and 
to allow witnesses to testify by phone or to continue the hearing, or to allow them to 
appear in person. 
 
 The tenant further contends that he submitted several written documents on 
August 18, 2019, including documents pertaining to code violations and the 
circumstances regarding termination of a prior tenancy, and the Hearing Officer claimed 
he did not include these claims and did not submit documentation, and she refused to 
admit this evidence at the hearing. 
  
 The tenant also contends that the evidence and findings of fact in the hearing 
decision are dubious, the owner was non-forthcoming, equivocal and evasive, hostile 
and committed perjury, as well as harassing him personally and violating tenant rights, 
and pursued an unlawful retaliatory unlawful detainer suit against him. 
 

ISSUE 
 

1. Is the Hearing Decision granting the exemption from the Rent Adjustment 
Program, of the subject unit as a single-family residence, pursuant to the Costa-
Hawkins Act, supported by substantial evidence? 

 
APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

 
1. Applicable Law 
 

Costa-Hawkins Act §1954.53  
 
O.M.C. § 8.22.030 (A 7) states that “Types of Dwelling Units Exempt” includes “Dwelling 
units exempt pursuant to Costa-Hawkins (California Civil Code §1954.52)1.” The 
exemption applies to single family residence 
 

                                                           
1 O.M.C. § 8.22.030.A(7) 



3 
 

Exclusion of Evidence by the Hearing Officer  

 Government Code §11513  

In administrative proceedings, “Any relevant evidence shall be admitted if it is the sort of 
evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious 
affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might 
make improper the admission of the evidence over objection in civil actions.” 

California Evidence Code §210  

Relevant evidence is evidence that has a “tendency in reason to prove or disprove any 
disputed fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action.” 

2. Past Board Decisions 

 a. Single Family Residence Exemption from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance 
 
There are multiple decisions holding that single-family residences are exempt from the 
Rent Adjustment Ordinance. 
  
T01-0472, Williams v. Prince 
T02, 0190, Hill v. Brown 
T09-0206, Bliss v. Dove 
T14-0004, Kram v. Taylor 

 
b. Acceptance or Rejection of Evidence  

 
T05-0110, Peacock et al. v. Vulcan 

 
The hearing officer has the authority to call witnesses and accept or reject evidence by 
either party, and this does not constitute bias.  
 
 

Prepared by Barbara Kong-Brown, Esq. 
       Senior Hearing Officer 

 

 

                        

 


	HRRRB Agenda & Packet_Special Meeting 10.08.2020
	Board Agenda Special Meeting  10-8-2020
	Full Board Special Meeting Minutes, 9-24-20
	Chron. for Sund v. Vernon Street Apartments
	Chron. for Kaufman v. Nguyen
	Chron. for Yoquelet v. Oaktown Properties
	T19-0196 Chron. Case Report- Yoquelet v. Oaktown Properties
	Tenent Petition
	Owner Response
	Hearing Decision
	Tenant Appeal


	Appeal memo-T18-0018 Sund v. Vernon Sttreet aka Flynn family Holdings-original tenant-bkb-uf.docx-9-25-20
	Appeal recommendation-T17-0221, Kaufman v. Nguyen-banking
	Appeal summary-T19-0196 Youquelet v. Oaktown 9-15-20



